2003

Lucy Johnson v. Gary Watts MD, and Douglas Kohler MD : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this Appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 78-2-2(3)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue I: Is there a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether Dr. Watts' failure to consult the primary care physician was a proximate cause of the injury she suffered from the surgery performed by Dr. Kohler?

Supporting Authority: Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil

Procedure

Kilpatrick v. Wiley, Rein & Fielding, 909 P. 2d 1283 (Utah 1996)

Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Utah v. State, 779 P. 2d 634 (Utah 1989)

Ron Case Roofing and Asphalt Paving, Inc. v. Gerald V. Blomquist, 773 P. 2d 1382 (Utah 1989)

Payne v. Garth G. Myers, M.D. 743 P. 2d 186, 187 (Utah 1987)

Standard of Review: A grant of summary judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. In considering an appeal from a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court views the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below. In determining whether those facts require, as a matter of law, the entry of judgment for the prevailing party below, the Appellate court gives no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law; those conclusions are reviewed for correctness. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Utah v. State, 779 P. 2d 634, 636 (Utah 1989).

Issue II: Is there a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether Dr. Watts' delay in appropriate treatment of Ms. Johnson between Nov. 6, 1998 and Nov. 9, 1998 was a reasonably foreseeable cause of injury?

Supporting Authority: The supporting authority is the same as for the first issue.

Standard of Review: The standard of review is the same as for the first issue.

Both issues are preserved for review pursuant to the trial court's Order Certifying Judgment as Final under Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, dated November 7, 2003. (R. 857)

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS ON APPEAL

This appeal turns upon the application of Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. This section provides:

The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Johnson sued Gary Watts, M.D. on December 19, 2001 asserting two negligence claims against Dr. Watts. First, Dr. Watts, a radiologist and the nephew of Mrs. Johnson, was negligent when he failed to consult Ms.

Johnson's primary care physician, Dr. Salisbury, at Mrs. Johnson's first visit in late October 1998. She had consulted Dr. Watts about chronic abdominal pain which Dr. Salisbury had previously investigated. Dr. Watts referred Mrs. Johnson to a surgeon, Dr. Kohler, who performed surgery on November 3, 1998, during which surgery Mrs. Johnson suffered an unrecognized bowel perforation.

Second, Dr. Watts was negligent when he re-admitted Mrs. Johnson to the hospital and assumed care of Ms. Johnson between Nov. 6 and Nov. 9, 1998 in the absence of Dr. Kohler. Mrs. Johnson claims that Dr. Watts should have consulted a surgeon immediately and this failure to do so caused additional damage to her.

Dr. Watts moved for summary judgment on Jan. 29, 2003, claiming that Ms. Johnson failed to establish a prima facie case by failure to establish a causal link between any action of Watts and the injuries alleged. Plaintiff served her Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion together with the Affidavit of Darwood Hance, M.D. on Feb. 12, 2003. Dr. Watts filed his reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment on Feb 21, 2003. After hearing oral argument on June 16, 2003, the trial court granted summary judgment to Dr. Watts on July 22, 2003. The Order Certifying

Judgment as Final was entered Nov. 10, 2003. The Notice of Appeal was filed December 3, 2003.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Ms. Lucy Johnson was formerly Ms. Lucy MacLeod. For the purposes of this appellate brief, she will be named as Ms. Johnson. (R. 414).
2. In late October 1998, Ms. Johnson contacted her nephew Dr. Watts, and requested assistance in securing diagnosis and treatment for her complaints of stomach pain. (R.280).
3. Dr. Watts is Board certified in radiology and provided medical services in radiology at Utah Valley Regional Medical Center ("UVRMC") and elsewhere. (R. 280).
4. On October 27, 1998, Dr. Watts arranged a surgical consultation for Ms. Johnson with Dr. Douglas Kohler, ("Dr. Kohler") a general surgeon. Dr. Kohler determined that Mrs. Johnson needed to have surgery to remove her gallbladder. (R. 279).
5. Dr. Kohler performed the surgery to remove her gall bladder on November 3, 1998, resulting in a perforation to her bowel. (R. 279).
6. Mrs. Johnson was discharged from UVRMC on November 4, 1998. (R. 35)

- 7 Ms. Johnson continued to experience abdominal pain in the days following the surgery. (R.245).
- 8 She was subsequently readmitted to UVRMC by Dr. Watts on November 6, 1998. (R. 279).
- 9 After Ms. Johnson was readmitted to the hospital, Dr. Watts provided all her medical care until Dr. Kohler, who was out of town, returned to UVRMC on November 9, 1998. (R. 279).
- 10 Dr. Kohler found Ms. Johnson to have extensive abdominal wall cellulitis for which he re-operated, finding a perforation in her bowel. (R. 238).
- 11 After the second surgery, Ms. Johnson remained in the hospital until November 24, 1998. (R. 279).
- 12 The affidavit of Darwood Hance, M.D. ("Dr. Hance") was attached to plaintiff's Opposition Memorandum. Dr. Hance is a radiology expert and is board certified in radiology and nuclear medicine. (R. 236).
- 13 In his affidavit, Dr. Hance stated that Dr. Watts breached the standard of care when he failed to consult plaintiff's primary care physician, Dr. Salisbury, and undertook to diagnose and refer plaintiff for treatment of abdominal pain. (R. 322).

14 In his affidavit, Dr. Hance stated that Dr. Watts' failure to consult Ms. Johnson's primary care physician, Dr. Salisbury, was negligent and resulted in a referral to a surgeon that would not have been made if plaintiff's primary care physician had been consulted. (R. 322).

15 Dr. Hance stated in affidavit that Dr. Watts should have consulted a surgeon to report that Ms. Johnson was having abdominal pain when Dr. Watts readmitted her to the hospital on November 6, 1998. (R.321).

16 Dr. Hance's affidavit stated that Dr. Watts' failure to consult a surgeon resulted in prolongation of Ms. Johnson's pain, increasing infection, additional complications and additional hospitalization. (R. 321).

17 Deposition of Richard G. Barton, M.D. that was attached to the Opposition Memorandum of Plaintiff was taken in Salt Lake City, Utah on February 3, 2003. (R. 320). Dr. Barton is a board-certified surgeon and was the expert for the other defendant in this case, Dr. Kohler.

18 Dr. Barton stated that the appropriate treatment upon recognition of an intra-abdominal infection due to perforated bowel in plaintiff's circumstances is prompt surgical treatment. (R. 317).

19 Dr. Barton stated that delaying surgery in Mrs. Johnson's case increased the severity of the infection. (R. 315)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The party opposing a summary judgment motion is entitled to have the court survey the evidence and all reasonable inferences fairly drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to him.

The trial court improperly granted defendant Dr. Watts' summary judgment on plaintiff Ms. Johnson's two claims. First, Ms. Johnson claimed that Dr. Watts' negligent failure to consult the plaintiff's primary care physician at her first visit was a proximate cause of her initial injury. Dr. Hance's affidavit stated that it was negligent for Dr. Watts to fail to consult Dr. Salisbury, Mrs. Johnson's primary care physician. Further, Dr. Hance stated that if Dr. Watts had consulted Dr. Salisbury, there would have been no need for surgery, which would have made referral to Dr. Kohler or any other surgeon unnecessary. Because it is reasonable to infer that Ms. Johnson would never have had a bowel perforation if she had not had surgery, there is evidence by which a jury could decide that Dr. Watts'

negligent failure to contact Dr. Salisbury was a proximate cause of Ms. Johnson's injury.

Second, Ms. Johnson claimed that Dr. Watts' delay in consulting a surgeon on and after Nov. 6 caused her additional injury. Dr. Hance's affidavit stated that Ms. Johnson's intra-abdominal infection continued and worsened after she first complained of abdominal pain to Dr. Watts on Nov. 5, 1998. Dr. Hance further stated that Dr. Watts was negligent in failing to consult a surgeon when he re-admitted Ms. Johnson to the hospital on Nov. 6, 1998. Moreover, Dr. Hance stated that because of this failure to consult a surgeon, Ms. Johnson suffered pain, increasing infection, additional complications and additional hospitalization, and incurred additional medical bills.

Adding to Dr. Hance's testimony, Dr. Barton, a surgeon, stated that the appropriate treatment upon recognition of a bowel perforation in plaintiff's circumstances is prompt surgical treatment. It is reasonable to infer from Hance's and Barton's evidence that Ms. Johnson would have had prompt surgery for the perforated bowel and intra-abdominal infection if Dr. Watts had contacted a surgeon on November 6, as he should have done. Going further, such an inference leads to the conclusion that delaying the surgery from November 6 to November 9, when Dr. Kohler returned,

resulted in increasing infection, additional abdominal pain, a larger abscess, additional hospital bills, increased risk of complications and everything attendant upon a longer hospital stay. These additional damages were stated by Dr. Hance in his affidavit. Dr. Barton also stated that the delay in performing surgery resulted in increasing infection and increased risk of complications. Thus, there is evidence by which jury could reasonably decide that Dr. Watts' failure to consult a surgeon was a proximate cause of Ms. Johnson's additional injury.

Evidence presented by plaintiff's expert and reasonable inferences drawn therefrom created a genuine dispute of material facts regarding Dr. Watts' negligence enough to defeat summary judgment motion. Yet, the trial court not only failed to recognize the genuine dispute but also failed to fairly draw reasonable inferences from all the evidences in Ms. Johnson's favor. Accordingly, this court should correct the error and reverse the decision of the court below.

ARGUMENT

A. The Facts and Inferences from the Facts Create a Genuine Issue of Material Fact Which Precludes Summary Judgment on the Issue of Causation

Utah law mandates that "[i]n determining whether the trial court correctly found that there was no genuine issue of material fact, we review

the facts and inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the losing party.” Ron Case Roofing and Asphalt Paving, Inc. v. Gerald V. Blomquist, 773 P. 2d 1382, 1385 (Utah 1989)(citing Geneva Pipe Co. v. S & H Insurance Co., 714 P. 2d 648, 649 (Utah 1986); Atlas Corp. v. Clovis National Bank, 737 P. 2d 225, 229 (Utah 1987); Beck v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 701 P. 2d 795, 802 (Utah 1985); Harmon City, Inc. v. Nielsen & Senior, 907 P. 2d 1162, 1164 (Utah 1995); Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah 1993). In determining whether those facts require, as a matter of law, the entry of judgment for the prevailing party below, the appellate court gives no deference to the trial court’s conclusions of law: those conclusions are reviewed for correctness. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Utah v. State, 779 P.2d 634, 636 (Utah 1989); Atlas Corp., 737 P.2d at 229; Kimball v. Campbell, 699 P. 2d 714, 716 (Utah 1985); see also Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P. 2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985).

Negligence cases, such as the medical malpractice case at issue here, are particularly unfit for summary judgment. Utah law provides that “[o]rdinarily, the question of negligence is a question of fact for the jury. Thus, summary judgment is appropriate in negligence cases only in the most clear instances.” Baczuk v. Salt Lake Regional Medical Center, 8 P.3d

1037, 1039 (Utah 2000)(citing Hunt v. Hurst, 785 P. 2d 414, 415 (Utah 1990)).

When the issue to be determined is that of causation, the requirements of summary judgment are perhaps even more restricted. Utah law has it that “[p]roximate cause is an issue of fact. Thus, only if there is no evidence upon which a reasonable jury could infer causation, is summary judgment appropriate.” Kilpatrick v. Wiley, Rein & Fielding, 909 P. 2d 1283, 1292 (Utah 1996).

The quantum of evidence to establish a dispute and preclude summary judgment is small. “It only takes one sworn statement under oath to dispute the averments on the other side of the controversy and create an issue of fact.” *Id.*(citing Harline v. Barker, 854 P.2d 1356 (Utah 1993)). In this negligence case, there is much more than one sworn statement to establish a dispute on the issue of causation.

B. There Is Evidence That Dr. Watts’ Negligent Failure To Consult Ms. Johnson’s Primary Care Physician Foreseeably Caused Her Injury.

Mrs. Johnson claims that Dr. Watts failed to consult her primary care physician. If he had done so, she claims, Dr. Watts would not have referred her to Dr. Kohler or to any other surgeon. She would not have undergone surgery and would not have suffered the bowel perforation that occurred during surgery. Because there is evidence by which a jury could reasonably

infer that Dr. Watts' failure to consult Dr. Salisbury resulted in a surgery that otherwise would not have been performed, the grant of summary judgment was erroneous.

The trial court granted summary judgment because it found that "[b]ecause Dr. Watts' involvement with Ms. Johnson' care ended with his referral to an experienced surgeon, Dr. Kohler, there is no causal connection between any harm Ms. Johnson suffered from surgery and Dr. Watts' referral." (R.809). However, viewing the evidence in that manner turns the analysis logically inside out. The issue is not who decided to perform the surgery. The issue is whether Mrs. Johnson should have been referred to a surgeon in the first place. It is clearly foreseeable that once referral to a surgeon has been made, surgery may ensue.

Although it may be that Dr. Watts did not make a decision to perform the surgery (R.328), this statement is only part of the whole picture. In his affidavit, Dr. Hance stated that "Dr. Watts breached the standard of care when he failed to consult plaintiff's primary care physician, Dr. Salisbury, before referring plaintiff to Dr. Kohler." He then stated that "if Dr. Watts had the information available from Dr. Salisbury, in my opinion there would have been no medical reason to refer plaintiff to Dr. Kohler or any other surgeon." (R.322). These are facts that the trial court should have viewed in

the light most favorable to plaintiff; i.e., as established facts. From these facts, it is reasonable to infer that if Watts had acted within the standard of care and had not referred Mrs. Johnson to Kohler or any other surgeon, she would not have had the surgery that indisputably injured her. Dr. Watts could foresee that Ms. Johnson, upon being referred to a surgeon, might be advised by that surgeon to have surgery. The issue is not the decision whether to have surgery. This issue is whether there should have been a surgical referral at all.

Once the nonmoving party, the plaintiff Ms. Johnson, has presented evidence that Dr. Watts' negligent failure to consult the primary care physician was a cause of Ms. Johnson's injury, the trial court should have accepted this evidence as fact. Then, the trial court should have drawn all the reasonable inferences from that. Here, one of the reasonable inferences is that Ms. Johnson would not have sustained the initial injury if she had not had the referral to Kohler and further that the referral foreseeably resulted in surgery.

Even without making reasonable inferences, Dr. Hance's affidavit has at least one sworn statement that establishes a causal link between Watts' negligence and Ms. Johnson's initial surgical injury. Hance directly states that "there would have been no medical reason to refer plaintiff to Dr.

Kohler . . .” and that “[t]he referral to Dr. Kohler led to the surgery performed by Kohler in which plaintiff was injured.”(R.322). The trial court should have viewed these statements in the light most favorable to plaintiff, accepting the statements as fact. Having done so, the trial court would then have had before it the “one sworn statement” establishing a dispute and summary judgment would have been inappropriate. Moreover, the dispute was a causation issue where summary judgment is appropriate *only if* there is *no* evidence upon which a reasonable jury could infer causation; the trial court’s grant of summary judgment thus becomes even more dubious.

There is evidence directly stating that Mrs. Johnson’s injury was caused by Watts’ failure to consult Dr. Salisbury. There is also evidence from which a reasonable inference can be drawn to the same effect. Finally, the negligent consultation of Dr. Kohler was reasonably foreseeable cause of a surgical injury. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the trial court’s decision.

C. There Is Evidence That Dr Watts’ Negligent Failure To Timely Consult A Surgeon On Re-Admitting Mrs. Johnson To The Hospital Caused Additional Injury.

The trial court erred in granting summary judgment on the second issue of causation in this case. Ms. Johnson claims that Dr. Watts’ negligent failure to consult a surgeon when she was re-admitted to the hospital on

November 6 caused additional injury and such additional injury would have been avoided with prompt and proper surgical consultation. Ms. Johnson presented evidence to establish this causal connection. The Utah Supreme Court has held that “[o]n a motion for summary judgment, a trial court should not weigh disputed evidence and its sole inquiry should be whether material issues of fact exist.” Kilpatrick, 909 P. 2d at 1292(citing Draper City v. Estate of Bernardo, 888 P. 2d 1097, 1100 (Utah 1995)). Again, the court in Kilpatrick stated that “it only takes one sworn statement under oath to dispute the averments on the other side of the controversy and create an issue of fact.” Id. Further, the court noted that the trial court should observe that “doubts about whether a nonmovant has established a genuine issue of material fact should be resolved in favor of permitting the party to go to the trial.” Id.(citing Butterfield v. Okubo, 831 P.2d 97,107 (Utah 1992)).

The trial court granted summary judgment because the court could find no expert testimony establishing a causal link between “Dr. Watts’ failure to consult with Dr. Kohler until November 9” and “specific complications.” (R. 808) This conclusion misses the point. Dr. Watts was negligent in failing to consult any surgeon and Dr. Hance clearly so states. Whatever treatment was or was not given by Dr. Watts during the two and one-half day wait for Kohler to return to town was, according to Dr. Hance’s

affidavit, inappropriate and the two and one-half day wait for appropriate treatment caused additional damage. "Because Dr. Watts failed to consult a surgeon in a timely fashion on and after November 6, 1998, plaintiff suffered pain and increasing infection for at least two and one-half days without appropriate treatment." (R. 321)

Dr. Hance also makes a direct connection between the failure to consult a surgeon and "specific complications" in his deposition testimony. Dr. Hance was asked directly about this issue in his deposition and this deposition testimony was before the court.

Question; Did you intend to render any opinions at trial, sir, with respect to any supposed delay in the performing of that second surgery?

Answer: Only that the delay in making the diagnosis of the perforation and undertaking the second surgery resulted in this large abscess that she had.

Question: Do you intend to testify that the supposed delay in doing the second surgery caused any of her problems in doing the second surgery between the time of that surgery and the present?

Answer: It caused large abscess to form. In other words, normally if you have a perforated small bowel and it's promptly recognized and promptly operated on, you do not expect a large abscess to form, which she did have she went to surgery several days later.
(R. 325)(emphasis added)

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