2003

Lucy Johnson aka Lucy Macleod v. Gary Watts M.D., and Douglas Kohler, M.D. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Both factually and conceptually, it makes sense to consider Ms. Johnson's allegations in this suit as two separate claims. Ms. Johnson's first claim is based on Dr. Watts' referral of Ms. Johnson to Dr. Kohler, and her second claim is based on Dr. Watts' treatment of Ms. Johnson during November 6-8, 1998, while Dr. Kohler was out of town.

Summary judgment in favor of Dr. Watts on the first claim should be affirmed because, as a matter of law, Ms. Johnson has not made out a claim for negligent referral. Ms. Johnson has not contended that Dr. Watts and Dr. Kohler were partners or agents, that Dr. Watts knew that a referral to Dr. Kohler was likely to result in negligent treatment, or that Dr. Watts participated in either the decision to operate on Ms. Johnson or in the surgery itself. Summary judgment should also be affirmed because, as the trial court ruled, Ms. Johnson did not present evidence from which a reasonable inference could be drawn that Dr. Watts' referral to Dr. Kohler was the proximate cause of Ms. Johnson's claimed damages. Finally, summary judgment should be affirmed because discouraging treating physicians from making referrals to competent, qualified specialists would have disastrous effects on the provision of health care to Utah's citizens.

With regard to Ms. Johnson's second claim, summary judgment should be affirmed because, as the trial court recognized, Ms. Johnson was unable to present any

evidence to show that surgery would have been done earlier if Dr. Watts had contacted a surgeon. Ms. Johnson also failed to present evidence to show that Dr. Watts' failure to consult with Dr. Kohler sooner actually caused specific complications, or that Dr. Watts' actions caused any additional damages to Ms. Johnson that would not already have occurred as a result of the first surgery.

ARGUMENT

I. DR. WATTS SHOULD NOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR THE ALLEGED NEGLIGENCE OF DR. KOHLER, A SPECIALIST TO WHOM DR. WATTS REFERRED MS. JOHNSON.

Ms. Johnson would have this court accept her contention that by the very act of referring her to Dr. Kohler, Dr. Watts ensured that she would then undergo surgery. For that reason, she argues, Dr. Watts should be held liable for Dr. Kohler's alleged negligence. (Aplt. Br. at 16-17, 25.) Stated briefly, the centerpiece of Ms. Johnson's argument on this point is that "without a surgical referral, there would have been no surgery and no injury." (*Id.* at 25.) In Ms. Johnson's view, then, any referral to a surgeon carries with it the probability—even a guarantee—that surgery will ensue. This theory, of course, makes little sense, and completely discounts a surgeon's province to evaluate a particular patient and decide whether surgery is appropriate. Ms. Johnson's claim was properly dismissed because not every referral to a surgeon will result in surgery.

Ms. Johnson's oversimplification of the role of a referral from one physician to a specialist, and her concomitant attempt to hold Dr. Watts liable for Dr. Kohler's alleged negligence, should be rejected for at least three reasons. First, Ms. Johnson has not alleged an actionable case of negligent referral, even if such a cause of action is found to exist under Utah law. Second, as the trial court found, there is no evidence to support a conclusion that Dr. Watts' referral to Dr. Kohler was the proximate cause of Ms. Johnson's alleged injuries from the first surgery. And third, adopting Ms. Johnson's position would deter physicians from making referrals to qualified specialists when a patient's needs call for such a referral, and thus would have far-reaching negative consequences for the health care of Utah citizens.

A. There Is No Cause Of Action For Negligent Referral. Even If This Court Finds Such A Cause Of Action Exists Under Utah Law, As A Matter Of Law Ms. Johnson Has Not Alleged Facts Sufficient To Make Out That Cause Of Action.

Summary judgment on Ms. Johnson's first claim should be affirmed because she is not entitled to recover against Dr. Watts for Dr. Kohler's alleged negligence in performing the first surgery.² A majority of courts across the country have held that a "physician who calls in or recommends another physician or surgeon is not liable for the

² Whether there is a cause of action for negligent referral under Utah law was discussed at the summary judgment hearing, but was not briefed by either party below. (R. 1015 at 33-38.) Under the affirm on any grounds doctrine, this court can affirm the grant of summary judgment to Dr. Watts "if it is sustainable on any legal ground or theory apparent on the record, even though such ground or theory differs from that stated by the trial court . . . was not raised in the lower court, and was not considered or passed on by the lower court." Bailey v. Bayles, 2002 UT 58, ¶10, 52 P.3d 1158 (quoting Dipoma v. McPhie, 2001 UT 61, ¶18, 29 P.3d 1225).

other's malpractice, at least where there was no agency or concert of action, or no negligence in the selection of the other physician or surgeon."³ W.R. Habeeb, Liability of One Physician or Surgeon for Malpractice of Another, 85 A.L.R.2d 889, *3 (2003); see, e.g., Estate of Traynor v. Bloomsburg Hosp., 60 F. Supp. 2d 412, 415-16 (M.D. Pa. 1999) (stating "if the general practitioner does not realize that the specialist's care is inadequate, he or she is not necessarily liable, but may be liable if a general practitioner . . . should have recognized the inadequacy and taken appropriate steps"); Billebault v. DiBattiste, 1998 US Dist LEXIS 7399, *15 (E.D. Pa. 1998) ("[U]nder normal circumstances a referring physician's duty to a patient is extinguished once another physician exercises independent medical judgment as to the patient's medical care in performing a surgical procedure."); Reed v. Bascon, 530 N.E.2d 417, 421 (Ill. 1988) ("The general rule is that a referring physician will not be liable for the other physician's negligence unless there is some control of the course of treatment of one by the other, agency or concert of action, or negligence in the referral."); Hopkins v. Mills-Kluttz, 77 S.W.3d 624, 627-28 (Mo. Ct. App. 2002) ("A referral of a patient by one physician to another competent physician, absent partnership, employment, or agency, does not impose liability on the referring physician."); Ruane v. Stillwell, 600 N.Y.S.2d 803, 804 (N.Y. App. Div. 1993); Weidner v. Nassau, 1993 Pa. D. & C. LEXIS 8, ** 2 (1993) (holding "[a] referral is not negligent if the referring physician exercises due care in

³ Although this rule has been followed in scores of cases across the country, Dr. Watts has been unable to find a Utah case discussing this cause of action.

making the recommendation,” and “a physician who merely recommends another is not liable for the other’s negligence or malpractice”).

One rationale underlying this majority position is that a physician owes a fiduciary relationship to his or her patient. The physician-patient “relationship is predicated on the proposition that the physician has special knowledge and skill in diagnosing and treating diseases and injuries and that the patient has sought and obtained the services of the physician because of this expertise.” Carson v. Fine, 867 P.2d 610, 617 (Wash. 1994); see also 61 Am. Jur. 2d Physicians & Surgeons § 166. This fiduciary relationship creates “certain obligation[s] on the part of the physician,” the primary obligation being to “exercise . . . due care and skill in the treatment of [the] patient.” 61 Am. Jur. 2d Physicians & Surgeons § 167. This duty of due care “includes, among others, [the physician’s] obligation . . . to refer [the patient] to a specialist if necessary.” Id. (emphasis added).

Because part of Dr. Watts’ duty to Ms. Johnson was to refer her to a specialist once he determined that he could not provide the care she needed, and because Ms. Johnson has not made out a claim for negligent referral, as a matter of law Ms. Johnson is not entitled to recover against Dr. Watts for the damages she claims resulted from either Dr. Watts’ referral to Dr. Kohler or the surgery Dr. Kohler subsequently performed on her.

Even if this court concludes that Utah law favors a cause of action for negligent referral, it should do so within the contours of the well-established majority position described above. Under that rule, a referring physician would be liable for a specialist's negligence only if the referring physician knew the specialist was likely to provide negligent care, or if the referring physician and the specialist shared an agency or partnership relationship, or if the referring physician participated in the specialist's decision regarding a course of treatment. The undisputed facts show that none of these conditions are met in this case.

First, Dr. Watts believed that Dr. Kohler was a qualified and able physician, and did not know or have any reason to know that Dr. Kohler's care of Ms. Johnson was likely to be negligent. Dr. Watts testified in his deposition that

[i]n fact, I asked [Dr. Kohler] to see my aunt because of his competence. He's a good surgeon. He's got a very low complication rate, and I'm sure did the best he could at the time of the surgery. . . . I have great confidence in Dr. Kohler, and I still consider him to be a very good surgeon.

(Deposition of Gary Watts, M.D. at 74:3-11. This page of Dr. Watts' deposition testimony is included in the addendum to this brief as Exhibit A.) Ms. Johnson has not produced any evidence to suggest that Dr. Watts knew or should have known that Dr. Kohler's treatment might potentially be negligent.

Second, Ms. Johnson has not produced any evidence to suggest that Dr. Watts and Dr. Kohler shared an agency or partnership relation, and in fact they did and do not.

Finally, the undisputed facts show, and Ms. Johnson acknowledges, that Dr. Watts played no role in Dr. Kohler's decision to perform surgery on Ms. Johnson and did not participate in the surgery in any way. (Aplt. Br. at 16; R. 245-47; R. 388.)

In sum, as a matter of law Dr. Watts should not be held liable for responding to his aunt's request for help; realizing that he was not the appropriate physician to determine the course of treatment for her complaint; and referring his aunt to a competent, knowledgeable specialist.

- B. Dr. Watts' Referral Of Ms. Johnson To A Qualified Specialist Was Not The Proximate Cause Of Her First Or Second Surgery, Nor Was It The Proximate Cause Of Her Claimed Damages From Those Surgeries. Dr. Watts Did Not Participate In The Decision To Perform Surgery On Ms. Johnson.

As the trial court recognized, Ms. Johnson was unable to provide expert testimony to establish that Dr. Watts' referral of her to Dr. Kohler was the proximate cause of her claimed damages. (R. 808-09.) Dr. Watts, who is a radiologist, referred Ms. Johnson to Dr. Kohler because he recognized that he was not able to treat her ailment. Dr. Watts did not play any part in the decision to perform surgery on Ms. Johnson. (Aplt. Br. at 16; R. 245-47; R. 388; R. 811.) That decision was Dr. Kohler's alone, and Dr. Kohler's decision that Ms. Johnson needed surgery was an independent break in the chain of causation Ms. Johnson would have this court draw between Dr. Watts' referral and the allegedly negligent surgery performed by Dr. Kohler. Because Ms. Johnson cannot present expert testimony to establish proximate cause, summary judgment should be

affirmed. See, e.g., Bansasine v. Bodell, 927 P.2d 675, 676 (Utah Ct. App. 1996) (stating trial court may rule on proximate cause as a matter of law if “there is no evidence to establish a causal connection, thus leaving causation to jury speculation”).

Ms. Johnson attempts to create an issue of fact by referring to the Hance Affidavit, which, she contends, shows that if Dr. Watts had consulted Ms. Johnson’s primary care physician, Dr. Salisbury, no surgical referral would have been necessary. (Appt. Br. at 15-18.) At best, the Hance Affidavit is sheer speculation on this point. Moreover, Dr. Hance testified that, as a radiologist, he is not competent to testify as to surgical issues. (R. 387.) The Hance Affidavit is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of disputed material fact; Ms. Johnson has truly presented “no evidence upon which a reasonable jury could infer causation[.]” Kilpatrick v. Wiley, Rein & Fielding, 909 P.2d 1283, 1292 (Utah 1996).

C. Utah Law Should Not Favor A Policy Of Discouraging Physicians From Referring Patients To Qualified Specialists When The Referring Physician Is Unable To Properly And Completely Treat The Patient’s Complaints.

Ms. Johnson’s contention that a referring physician should be held liable for a specialist’s alleged negligence—even when the referring physician played no part in deciding on the specialist’s course of treatment—would have far-reaching and seriously negative policy effects for the provision of healthcare to Utah’s citizens. If Ms. Johnson’s position were accepted by this court, every physician who refers a patient to a specialist would be liable for the decisions made and treatment provided by that

specialist. The very purpose of referring a patient to a specialist is to facilitate a more specialized review of the patient's symptoms, diagnosis, and treatment. If Ms. Johnson's position were adopted, treating physicians would face an extreme disincentive to refer a patient to a specialist. This, of course, would do harm to the patients themselves: physicians would either refuse to treat patients unless they knew for certain, at the outset, that they were able to treat the complaint; or they would decline to make proper and necessary referrals to competent specialists. Both of these outcomes should be avoided.

In sum, as a matter of law, Ms. Johnson is not entitled to recover against Dr. Watts for Dr. Kohler's alleged negligence. Ms. Johnson has not alleged facts that would bring her claim within the scope of a negligent referral cause of action, even if that cause of action exists under Utah law. Ms. Johnson cannot produce any evidence to suggest that the mere act of referring her to a surgeon meant that surgery would necessarily ensue. And finally, adopting Ms. Johnson's position would discourage treating physicians from consulting specialists in an effort to better care for their patients. For these reasons and the reasons argued by Dr. Watts below, this court should affirm the grant of summary judgment and hold that Dr. Watts' referral of Ms. Johnson to a qualified and competent specialist does not create liability on Dr. Watts' part for Dr. Kohler's alleged negligence.

II. DR. WATTS SHOULD NOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES ALLEGEDLY FLOWING FROM MS. JOHNSON'S SECOND SURGERY.

On appeal, Ms. Johnson argues that there is a triable issue of material fact on the question of whether Dr. Watts' care of Ms. Johnson after her readmission to the hospital

on November 6, 1998 caused additional damages. Specifically, she argues that the testimony of Dr. Hance and Dr. Barton shows that Ms. Johnson might have suffered “increased severity of infection, larger abscess, additional medical bills, additional hospitalization, additional pain, additional scarring, fever[,] and toxicity” as a result of Dr. Watts’ alleged delay in calling in a surgeon after Ms. Johnson was readmitted on November 6. (Aplt. Br. at 25.) This argument should be rejected and summary judgment affirmed.

Ms. Johnson does not deny that a second surgery was required as a result of the perforation to her bowel during the first surgery. As argued above, Dr. Watts cannot be held responsible for any damage or injury caused by the first surgery, including the perforation and the need for a second surgery to repair the perforation. As a result, Dr. Watts cannot be held responsible for any damage or injury caused by the necessity of a second surgery. Dr. Watts provided no treatment to Ms. Johnson after November 8, 1998. Accordingly, Ms. Johnson was required to prove that Dr. Watts’ treatment of her between November 6 and November 8 caused an actual and specific injury. Ms. Johnson did not meet this burden.

There is no evidence in the record and no expert has testified that any complication suffered by Ms. MacLeod was actually related to a “delay” in surgery between November 6 and November 8. Even accepting every fact set forth by Ms. Johnson, the only damages that she can claim in connection with her November 6

through November 8 hospitalization are a marginal increase in the size of an abscess and some unquantified increase in infection. There is no expert testimony connecting these real or potential conditions to any other post-surgical complication, injury, or damage. Although Dr. Barton testified that there was some increased risk of complication during this time period, he did not testify that the “delay” actually caused a specific complication. And as Ms. Johnson conceded during the briefing of Dr. Watts’ summary judgment motion, the mere risk of a complication is not sufficient to support a claim for damages.⁴ While Ms. Johnson experienced hypoglycemia, fluid overload, and pneumothorax after the second surgery and prior to her discharge, there is no expert testimony connecting these physical conditions to treatment provided by Dr. Watts.

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